**IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA**

---

**No. 22-0581**

---

**JOSHUA VENCKUS**

**Plaintiff-Appellee,**

**vs.**

**CITY OF IOWA CITY and ANDREW RICH**

**Defendants-Appellants.**

**APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT  
FOR JOHNSON COUNTY  
HONORABLE CHAD KEPROS, JUDGE**

---

**APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF**

---

**Martin Diaz AT0002000  
1570 Shady Ct. NW  
Swisher, IA 52338  
Telephone: (319) 339-4350  
Facsimile (319) 339-4426 Fax  
[marty@martindiazlawfirm.com](mailto:marty@martindiazlawfirm.com)**

**M. Victoria Cole AT0001678  
2310 Johnson Avenue, NW  
Cedar Rapids, Iowa 52405  
Telephone: (319) 261-2600  
Facsimile: (319) 826-1281

## **STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES**

### **I. DID VENCKUS ESTABLISH A VIABLE CLAIM FOR A CONTINUING MALICIOUS PROSECUTION?**

#### **Iowa Cases:**

*Children v. Burton*, 331 N.W.2d 673 (Iowa 1983)  
*Craig v. City of Cedar Rapids*, 826 N.W.2d 516 (Iowa App. 2012)  
*Johnson v. Miller*, 47 N.W. 903 (Iowa 1891)  
*Kraft v. Bettendorf*, 359 N.W.2d 466 (Iowa 1984)  
*McKee v. Isle of Capri Casinos, Inc.*, 864 N.W.2d 518 (Iowa 2015)  
*Sisler v. Centerville*, 372 N.W.2d 248, 251 (Iowa 1985)  
*Vander Linden v. Crews*, 231 N.W.2d 904 (Iowa 1975)  
*Wilson v. Hayes*, 464 N.W.2d 250 (Iowa 1990)  
*Yoch v. City of Cedar Rapids*, 353 N.W.2d 95 (Iowa 1984)

#### **Federal Cases:**

*Kansas v. Glover*, 140 S. Ct. 1183 (2020)  
*Wheeler v. Nesbitt*, 65 U.S. 544, 550 (1860)

#### **Other Authorities:**

*Restatement (Second) of Torts §653-671*  
*Restatement (Second) of Torts §653*  
*Restatement (Second) of Torts §654*  
*Restatement (Second) of Torts §655*  
*Restatement (Second) of Torts §655, comment b*  
*Restatement (Second) of Torts §662*  
*Restatement (Second) of Torts §672*  
*Restatement (Second) of Torts §674*

#### **Other State Cases:**

*Carter v. Bryant*, 429 S.C. 298 (South Car. 2020)  
*Del Rio v. Jetton*, 55 Cal. App. 4th 30 (California 1997)  
*Maniaci v. Marquette University*, 50 Wis. 2d 287 (Wisconsin 1971)  
*Montgomery Ward v. Wilson*, 339 Md. 701 (Maryland 1995)  
*Peasley v. Puget Sound Tug & Barge Co.*, 125 P.2d 681

(Washington 1942)  
*Pera v. Kroger Co.*, 674 S.W.2d 715 (Tenn. 1984)  
*Raine v. Drasin*, 621 S.W.2d 895 (Kentucky 1981)  
*Simmons v. Telecom Credit Union*, 177 Mich. App. 636 (Michigan 1989)  
*Smith-Hunter v. Harvey*, 95 N.Y.2d 191 (New York 200)  
*Sundeen v. Kroger*, 355 Ark. 138 (Arkansas 2003)  
*Swick v. Liautaud*, 169 Ill. 2d 504 (Illinois 1996)  
*Trussell v. GMC*, 53 Ohio St. 3d 142 (Ohio 1990)  
*Weissman v. K-Mart Corp.*, 396 So. 2d 1164 (Florida 1981)

## **II. DO GODFREY CLAIMS APPLY TO MUNICIPALITIES OR THEIR EMPLOYEES?**

### **Iowa Cases:**

*Baldwin v. City of Estherville (Baldwin I)*, 915 N.W.2d 259 (Iowa 2018)  
*Baldwin v. City of Estherville (Baldwin II)*, 929 N.W.2d 691 (Iowa 2019)  
*Godfrey v. State (Godfrey II)*, 898 N.W.2d 844 (Iowa 2017)  
*Venckus v. City of Iowa City*, 930 N.W.2d 792 (Iowa 2019)  
*Wagner v State of Iowa*, 952 N.W.2d 843 (Iowa 2020)

### **Iowa Constitution and Statutes:**

Iowa Const. art. I, §1  
Iowa Const. art. I, §6  
Iowa Const. art. I, §8  
Iowa Const. art. I, §9

Iowa Code Chapter 669 (ITCA)  
Iowa Code Chapter 670 (IMTCA)

Iowa Code §669.14(1)  
Iowa Code §670.1(4)  
Iowa Code §670.4  
Iowa Code §670.4(1)(c)  
Iowa Code §670.5  
Iowa Code §670.12

**Federal Cases:**

*Harlow v. Fitzgerald*, 457 U.S. 800 (1982)

**Other Authorities:**

Jeffries Jr., *The Liability Rule for Constitutional Torts*, 99 Va. L. Rev. 207 (2013)

*Restatement (Second) of Torts section 874A*

**III. ARE CONSTITUTIONAL TORT CLAIMS UNDER ART. I, §1 AND ART I, §8 PERMITTED?**

**Iowa Cases:**

*Baldwin v. City of Estherville (Baldwin I)*, 915 N.W.2d 259 (Iowa 2018)

*Gacke v. Pork Xtra, L.L.C.*, 684 N.W.2d 168 (Iowa 2004)

*Godfrey v. State (Godfrey II)*, 898 N.W.2d 844 (Iowa 2017)

*State v. Osborne*, 154 N.W. 294, 299 (Iowa 1915)

*Wagner v State of Iowa*, 952 N.W.2d 843 (Iowa 2020)

**Iowa Constitution and Statutes:**

Iowa Const. art. I, §1

Iowa Const. art. I, §8

Iowa Const. art. I, §9

Iowa Code Chapter 669 (ITCA)

**Federal Cases:**

*Bivens v. Six Unknown Named Agents of Federal Bureau of Narcotics*, 403 U.S. 388 (1971)

**Federal Constitution and Statutes:**

Fourth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution

Fifth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution

**Other Authorities:**

Grodin, *Rediscovering the State Constitutional Right to Happiness and Safety*, 25 Hastings Const. L.Q. 1 1997-1998

Pettys, *The Iowa State Constitution* (2018)

Rosen, *The Bivens Constitutional Tort: An Unfulfilled Promise.*, 67 N.C.L. Rev. 337

**IV. IS THERE A GENUINE ISSUE OF MATERIAL FACT WITH REGARD TO VENCKUS' CONSTITUTIONAL TORT CLAIMS?**

**Iowa Cases:**

*Baldwin v. City of Estherville (Baldwin I)*, 915 N.W.2d 259 (Iowa 2018)

*Godfrey v. State (Godfrey II)*, 898 N.W.2d 844 (Iowa 2017)

*Sheeler v. Nev. Cmty. Sch. Dist.*, 2018 Iowa App. LEXIS 715 (Iowa App. 2018)

*State v. Naujoks*, 637 N.W.2d 101, 107 (Iowa 2001)

*Zaber v. City of Dubuque*, 789 N.W.2d 634 (Iowa 2010)

**Iowa Constitution and Statutes:**

Iowa Const. art. I, §1

Iowa Const. art. I, §8

Iowa Const. art. I, §9

**Federal Cases:**

*Akins v. Epperly*, 588 F.3d 1178 (8th Cir. 2009). )

*Baker v. McCollan*, 443 U.S. 137 (1979)

*County of Sacramento v. Lewis*, 523 U.S. 833 (1998)

*Wilson v. Lawrence County* 260 F.3d 946 (8th Cir. 2001)



**Other Authorities:**

Levinson, *Time to Bury the Shocks the Conscience Test*, 13 Chap. L. Rev. 307, 308 (2010)

Tepker, *The Arbitrary Path of Due Process*, 53 Okla. L. Rev. 19 (2000)

*Restatement (Second) of Torts § 874A*

**V. DOES JUDICIAL PROCESS IMMUNITY APPLY TO VENCKUS' CLAIMS?**

**Iowa Cases:**

*Minor v. State*, 819 N.W.2d 383, 389 (Iowa 2012).

*Schneider v. State*, 789 N.W.2d 138, 144 (Iowa 2010)

*Thomas v. Gavin*, 838 N.W.2d 518, 522 (Iowa 2013)

*Venckus v. City of Iowa City*, 930 N.W.2d 792 (Iowa 2019)

**Iowa Constitution and Statutes:**

Iowa Code Chapter 669 (ITCA)

Iowa Code Chapter 670 (IMTCA)

Iowa Code 670.4

**VI. DOES DISCRETIONARY FUNCTION IMMUNITY APPLY TO VENCKUS' CLAIMS?**

**Iowa Cases:**

*Thomas v. Gavin*, 838 N.W.2d 518, 522 (Iowa 2013)

**Iowa Constitution and Statutes:**

Iowa Code Chapter 669 (ITCA)  
Iowa Code Chapter 670 (IMTCA)

Iowa Code 670.4

## **VII. ARE ANY OTHER IOWA CODE CHAPTER 670 IMMUNITIES APPLICABLE TO VENCKUS' CLAIMS?**

### **Iowa Constitution and Statutes:**

Iowa Code §670.4(1)(d)  
Iowa Code §670.4(1)(j)

### **Iowa Rules:**

Iowa R. App. P. 6.904(3)(j)

## **VIII. IS IOWA CODE §670.4A RETROACTIVE TO VENCKUS' CLAIMS AND, IF SO, IS THE STATUTE CONSTITUTIONAL?**

### **Iowa Cases:**

*Baldwin v. City of Estherville (Baldwin I)*, 915 N.W.2d 259 (Iowa 2018)

*Baldwin v. Waterloo*, 372 N.W.2d 486 (1985)

*Matter of Chicago, Mil., St. P. & Pac. R.R.*, 334 N.W.2d 290 (Iowa 1983)

*Schwarzkopf v. Sac County Bd. of Supervisors*, 341 N.W.2d 1 (Iowa 1983)

*State v. Wright*, 961 N.W.2d 396 (Iowa 2021)

*State ex rel. Turner v. Limbrecht*, 246 N.W.2d 330 (Iowa 1976)

*Thorp v. Casey's General Stores, Inc.*, 446 N.W.2d 457 (Iowa 1989)

**Iowa Constitution and Statutes:**

Iowa Const. art. I, §9  
Iowa Const. art. III § 26  
Iowa Const. art. X

Iowa Code § 4.5  
Iowa Code §670.4A

**Federal Cases:**

*Harlow v. Fitzgerald*, 457 U.S. 800 (1982)

**Federal Constitution and Statutes:**

Fifth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution

**Other Authorities:**

*Cady, A Pioneer’s Constitution: How Iowa’s Constitutional History Uniquely Shapes Our Pioneering Tradition in Recognizing Civil Rights and Civil Liberties*, 60 Drake L. Rev. 1133 (2012)

S.F. 476, Iowa Senate Floor Debate

**IX. DID RICH ESTABLISH HIS QUALIFIED IMMUNITY DEFENSE AS A MATTER OF LAW?**

**Iowa Cases:**

*Baldwin v. City of Estherville (Baldwin I)*, 915 N.W.2d 259 (Iowa 2018)

**X. WERE VENCKUS’ CLAIMS BROUGHT WITHIN THE APPLICABLE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS?**

**Iowa Cases:**

*Buszka v. Iowa City Cmty. Sch. Dist.*, 898 N.W.2d 292 (Iowa App. 2017)  
*Earl v. Clark*, 219 N.W.2d 487 (Iowa 1974)  
*Harrington v. State*, 659 N.W.2d 509 (Iowa 2003)  
*Mills County State Bank v. Roure*, 291 N.W.2d 1 (Iowa 1980)  
*Shams v. Hassan*, 905 N.W.2d 158 (Iowa 2017)  
*Venckus v. City of Iowa City (Venckus I)*, 930 N.W.2d 792 (Iowa 2019)

**Iowa Constitution and Statutes:**

Iowa Code §670.5

**Federal Cases:**

*Brady v. Maryland*, 373 U.S. 83 (1963)

## **ROUTING STATEMENT**

This case should be retained by the Iowa Supreme Court because it presents “substantial constitutional questions” that are fundamental issues of broad public importance requiring ultimate determination. Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(2)(a) and (d).

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

**NATURE OF THE CASE:** This action comes before this Court on a grant of summary judgment. The case arises out of the wrongful investigation and prosecution of Joshua Venckus. The wrongful investigation was conducted by Andrew Rich, an investigator with the Iowa City Police Department.<sup>1</sup> The wrongful prosecution was instigated or procured by Rich. Venckus alleges that Rich was aware of evidence that exonerated Venckus but continued the wrongful prosecution causing him financial and emotional harm that continues to this day.

Venckus asserts a common-law claim of malicious prosecution and Iowa Constitutional tort claims. (App. Vol. I, pp. 29-30).

---

<sup>1</sup> Venckus will refer to the Defendants collectively as “Rich.”

**COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS:** On March 15, 2018, Venckus filed suit against Rich. (App. Vol. I, p. 7). Rich filed a Motion to Dismiss on April 5, 2018 (City Motion to Dismiss). After the District Court denied Rich’s Motion, Rich filed an Application for Interlocutory Appeal which was granted. This led to the Court’s decision in *Venckus v. City of Iowa City*, 930 N.W.2d 792 (Iowa 2019) (*Venckus I*). On remand, the court dismissed the remaining claim against the County defendants. That dismissal has not been appealed.

The case proceeded through discovery and on October 27, 2021, Rich filed a Motion for Summary Judgment. (App. Vol. I, p. 34). On November 24, 2021, Venckus resisted the motion. (App. Vol. I, p. 67). On January 31, 2022, the district court granted summary judgment. (App. Vol. I, p. 640). On February 14, 2022, Venckus requested reconsideration. (App. Vol. I, p. 657). On March 7, 2022, the district court denied the motion to reconsider. (App. Vol. I, p. 674). Venckus appealed on March 30, 2022. (App. Vol. I, p. 677).

## **STATEMENT OF FACTS<sup>2</sup>**

**The Crime:** Sometime before 445am on Saturday, February 16, 2013, a woman (“L.M.”) was raped and beaten inside 516 S. Van Buren St,

---

<sup>2</sup> The facts are taken from the Statement of Facts in resistance to the Motion for Summary Judgment and is abridged to comply with the word limits.

Iowa City [“the residence”]. L.M. was encountered by a passerby, John Munn, just outside the residence when she ran out. (App. Vol. I, p. 69). Mr. Munn saw a single male figure that fit the description of Ryan Markley. At trial, Mr. Munn selected the physical description that matched Markley. (App. Vol. I, p. 69-70).

**Only One Attacker:** Andrew Rich (herein “Rich”) was employed as an Investigator for the City of Iowa City Police Department. Det. Rich was the lead investigator on the rape investigation. (App. Vol. I, p. 70). L.M. only identified one person as being the attacker. Initially, Detective Rich assumed only one attacker and admitted that there was initially no evidence that there was more than one attacker. (App. Vol. I, p. 70-71).

**The Prime Suspect:** The prime suspect was Ryan Markley. His wallet was recovered at the scene of the crime, he took an item that belonged to a resident of the property, and his DNA was found on the body of the victim. Markley was not a resident of the property. (App. Vol. I, p. 71).

**Joshua Venckus in Chicago:** On February 15-17, 2013, Venckus lived at the residence. However, Venckus left for Chicago on Friday, February 15 and did not return to Iowa until Sunday, February 17. During that weekend, Venckus stayed at his parents’ home in Chicago. (App. Vol. I, p. 71-72). Venckus did not have a license or a vehicle during the weekend.

During that weekend, Michael Concannon served as Venckus' driver to and from the State of Illinois. (App. Vol. I, p. 71-72).

**The Party at the Residence:** On Friday, February 15, Venckus' roommates hosted a themed party at the residence. L.M. attended the party, became extremely intoxicated and incapacitated. Partygoers tended to L.M. and made her comfortable on a couch in the living room of the main level of the residence. (App. Vol. I, p. 72).

L.M. was covered with a blanket retrieved from Venckus' bedroom. Markley attended the same party. Venckus did not know either L.M. or Markley. The blanket covering L.M. was replete with Venckus' DNA. (App. Vol. I, p. 72-73).

The party broke up around 3:30am on Saturday, February 16, and all residents and any remaining guests went to sleep. Ryan Markley then broke into the residence, burglarized it, and perpetrated a sexual assault upon L.M. All residents reported that Venckus was in Chicago and not at the party. No one identified him as being present during the party. (App. Vol. I, p. 73).

**A Second "Suspect":** DNA evidence that corroborated Markley's presence at the crime scene, also identified the DNA of a second male, known as "Male B." Up until the DNA evidence showed a second male contributor, Rich believed that there was only one offender. All males



known to be present at the party were tested for DNA and were excluded. Rich sought out Venckus to request his DNA. Venckus volunteered his DNA and it matched “Male B.” Up until then, Rich believed that Venckus was not present in Iowa City. (App. Vol. I, p. 73-74). All the occupants of the home were immediately interviewed separately, and every single one of them claimed that Venckus was in Chicago. (App. Vol. I, p. 74).

**The Arrest:** On January 24, 2014, Venckus was interviewed by Rich and Det. Gonzalez. Venckus told the detectives he was in Chicago over the weekend and was never at the party. Despite a long lecture on the importance of getting out ahead of the DNA evidence, Venckus held firm. During the interview, Gonzalez conceded the potential of transfer of DNA. Venckus offered Rich his phone and bank records. He was then arrested. (App. Vol. I, p. 74-75).

**The Duty to Investigate the Alibi Defense:** Det. Rich admitted that an investigator has a duty to investigate an alibi claim and to seek out exculpatory evidence. (App. Vol. I, p. 75).

**The Chicago Lawyer:** During a September 4, 2015 deposition in the criminal defense, Chicago lawyer Nehad Zayyad confirmed that Venckus met with him Friday afternoon, February 15, relating to a separate legal matter. Rich would later admit that this piece of information convinced him

that Venckus went to Chicago on Friday. (App. Vol. I, p. 75-76).

**Birthday Weekend:** In addition to going to Chicago to see the attorney, Venckus went home to celebrate his mother (Jeanine's) birthday. The family had a party Saturday afternoon and evening, to include playing cards, a well-known family tradition. (App. Vol. I, p. 76).

**The Trip to The Movie Theater:** On Friday night, Jeanine, her daughter Rebecca, and Venckus went to see the movie *Lincoln* in LaGrange, Illinois. Rich conceded that Venckus went to the movie. The movie (*Lincoln*) began at 915pm on Friday night and lasted 2 hours and 30 minutes. (App. Vol. I, p. 76-77). Venckus' debit card, which was used as payment for the tickets, was posted at 945pm. The movie theatre was 30 minutes away. They all returned to the Chicago home after 1230pm on Saturday, February 16. (App. Vol. I, p. 76-77).

**The Testimony of The Family:** Jeanine confirmed her son's presence that weekend and that Venckus went to the movie. Jeanine also stated that she awoke at 8am the following day, drove her own vehicle to work and would have left her home at 9am. She also confirmed that her daughter went with her father in her father's vehicle to Rebecca's new job for a drug test. Jeanine also noted that the poker/birthday party started around 2pm. (App. Vol. I, p. 77).

Rebecca confirmed that she picked up her brother at Mike Concannon's house, and that Josh went with them to the movie. She also confirmed that they got home around 12:30-1am and went to bed around 1am. Rebecca then woke up around 8am and saw her brother in the same bed. At trial, Rebecca narrowed that time even further to 6am as she was able to review her phone records and found that she exchanged texts with a friend at around that time. Rebecca also testified that she had to go to orientation for her new job Saturday morning, was driven by her dad, and returned around 1030am to find her brother eating. (App. Vol. I, p. 77-78). Rich admitted that he never interviewed Josh's parents, family, or Chicago friends. His reasoning was that they would lie for Venckus. (App. Vol. I, p. 78).

**The Lack of Transportation:** There were only two vehicles available on the Chicago property: Jeanine's and her husband's. Neither vehicle was available for Joshua to drive to Iowa City. When Jeanine went to work Saturday morning, both vehicles were there. (App. Vol. I, p. 78-79).

Concannon went to Chicago on Friday so he could see a hockey game and gave Venckus a ride home. Rich eventually conceded that Concannon drove Venckus to Chicago on that Friday. (App. Vol. I, p. 79).

**Rich's Criminal Trial Concessions:** At the criminal trial, Rich made

two crucial concessions: First, Venckus left Iowa City for Chicago on Friday, February 15; and secondly, any drive to or from Iowa City and Chicago would take approximately 3 ½ hours. The concession that Venckus went to Chicago caught the prosecutor by surprise. (App. Vol. I, p. 79-80).

**Rich's Deposition Concessions:** At Rich's deposition, he conceded that Venckus was in the Chicagoland area until after he got to his parents' home after watching the movie *Lincoln*. He also conceded that Venckus would have needed a vehicle and could not explain how Venckus would have returned to Iowa City. (App. Vol. I, p. 80).

**Rich's Theory of The Crime:** Rich testified in the criminal trial that Venckus went to Chicago but decided to return to Iowa City in the middle of the night, but could not explain how Venckus did that. (App. Vol. I, p. 81). During his civil deposition, Rich claimed that Venckus wanted to get back to be at the party in Iowa City and would then plan to return to Chicago to be at his mother's party. (App. Vol. I, p. 82-83).

**Rich's Unreasonable Belief:** Rich's belief was unreasonable because:

1. By conceding that Venckus left for Chicago on Friday and went to a movie, returning to his parents' home around 1am on Saturday, Rich was left with an *impossible timeline* to place Venckus in Iowa City at 430am (to commit the crime) and Chicago between 7am and 8am (to return his parents'

vehicle).

2. Venckus did not have access to a car. Both his parents needed their vehicles: mom to go to work, and dad to take his sister to her job orientation. If he took either of his parent's vehicle at 1:00am, he would need to bring that vehicle back in time for that parent to use a vehicle somewhere between 700 and 800 AM. To have the vehicle back to Chicago by 7:00 am, he would have to leave Iowa City by 330 am. But the assault did not occur until 430-445am.

If he were present at 430-445am, then he did not have time to return the vehicle to his parent by 7am. In short, Venckus could not be in two places at the same time.

3. Moreover, if Venckus wanted to return to Iowa City to be at the party, he would not have gone to the movie at 9pm.

4. The Iowa City party ended at 330am. There were no phone calls or texts around the time that Venckus allegedly left Chicago to inquire whether the party was still going on and how long it would last.

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