IN THE IOWA SUPREME COURT

No. 22-0581

---

**JOSHUA VENCKUS,**

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

**CITY OF IOWA CITY and ANDREW RICH,**

Defendants-Appellees.

---

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT  
FOR JOHNSON COUNTY  
THE HONORABLE CHAD KEPROS, JUDGE

---

DEFENDANTS-APPELLEES' FINAL BRIEF

---

Elizabeth J. Craig ATM520022  
Assistant City Attorney  
Jennifer L. Schwickerath ATM520023  
Assistant City Attorney  
410 E. Washington Street  
Iowa City, IA 52240  
(319) 356-5030  
[icattorney@iowa-city.org](mailto:icattorney@iowa-city.org)  
ATTORNEYS FOR CITY OF  
IOWA CITY AND ANDREW RICH

##

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

Rich could not, and did not, control the prosecution, and is therefore immune pursuant to Section 670.4(1)(j).

## **VIII. THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY RULED IOWA CODE SECTION 670.4A QUALIFIED IMMUNITY BARS VENCKUS'S CLAIMS.**

### **A. Preservation of Error and Scope and Standard of Review**

Rich and the City agree with Venckus error is preserved on this issue and regarding the proper scope and standard of review. The district court correctly ruled Rich and the City were entitled to qualified immunity under Iowa Code Section 670.4A(1)(a)-(b). (App. I, pp. 653-654).

### **B. Merits**

Venckus never reaches the merits of the district court's statutory qualified immunity ruling. Rather, he attacks the validity of Chapter 670 qualified immunity, arguing it cannot apply retroactively and is unconstitutional. Both arguments should be rejected.

#### **1. Statutory Qualified Immunity Applies**

##### **a. The Correct Temporal Application of Iowa Code Section 670.4A Requires Its Application in This Case Because the Events of Legal Consequence Relate to Adjudicatory Conduct, Not the Underlying Incident**

Under the test stated in *Hrbek v. State*, 958 N.W.2d 779 (Iowa 2021) the conduct regulated by Section 670.4A(1)—the court's application of the statutory qualified immunity test in Section 670.4A to a pending claim—is adjudicative, will

occur in the future, and is not impermissibly retroactive. The Iowa Supreme Court has recognized that determining whether a statute applies “retrospectively, prospectively, or both is simply a question regarding the correct temporal application of a statute.” *Hrbek*, 958 N.W.2d at 782. In *Hrbek* the statute at issue was enacted in 2019, 22 years after the petitioner filed his post-conviction relief application and while that action was pending. *Id.* at 783. The statute prevented the petitioner from filing pro se supplemental briefs. *Id.* at 782. The petitioner alleged the 2019 statute could not apply “retroactively” to his pending postconviction relief action because he had a vested right in filing pro se briefs at the time he filed his original postconviction relief action. *Id.* The Court rejected this argument, finding that the conduct the statute regulated, the filing of briefs, would occur during the ongoing adjudicative process, and therefore, did not involve “a retrospective application of the statute within any common-sense understanding of the term ‘retrospective.’” *Id.* at 783.

*Hrbek* controls this case. The conduct that Iowa Code Section 670.4A regulates is the court’s adjudicative review of whether a claim is legally cognizable under Chapter 670. *See* Iowa Code § 670.4A(1). And the legal review is simply for whether a plaintiff’s claim was *clearly established* under Iowa law. Of course, for a viable claim to exist at all under Chapter 670, there must be a recognized “right, privilege, or immunity” pled by the plaintiff.

This adjudicative requirement is factually prospective, not retrospective, in that it occurs after the filing of a lawsuit and is a legal test applied by the court. The qualified immunity statute regulates *the litigation process* related to past conduct of government employees, not past conduct itself or a plaintiff's *rights*. Qualified immunity "is conceptually distinct from the merits of the plaintiff's claim that his rights have been violated." *Mitchell v. Forsyth*, 472 U.S. 511, 527, 105 S.Ct. 2806, 86 L.Ed.2d 411 (1985). If litigation arises, the doctrine is meant to weed out insubstantial claims against government officials. *Id.* Qualified immunity regulates pretrial matters such as discovery, as well, since "[i]nquiries of this kind can be peculiarly disruptive of effective government." *Id.* at 526. (quotation omitted)

These are all concerns that arise in the future, not the past. In *Hrbek* the Supreme Court collected cases illustrating a "prospective application of current law." *See Combs v. Comm'r of Soc. Sec.*, 459 F.3d 640, 648–49 (6th Cir. 2006) ("[T]he regulatory change had no retroactive effect because the presumption defined by the listing is a rule of adjudication and therefore has its effect on claims at the time of adjudication."); *United States v. Nunemacher*, 362 F.3d 682, 685–86 (10th Cir. 2004) (new standard of appellate review applied notwithstanding that it was adopted after the proceedings in the trial court were concluded); *United States v. Mallon*, 345 F.3d 943, 946 (7th Cir. 2003) (same); *United States v. Holloman*,

765 F. Supp.2d 1087, 1091 (C.D. Ill. 2011) (“[T]he relevant retroactivity event is the sentencing date, not the date the offense was committed, because the application of a mandatory minimum is a sentencing factor, not an element of the offense. Accordingly, the application of the [Fair Sentencing Act] is the prospective application of current law, not a retroactive exercise.”) (emphasis omitted)).

The district court correctly ruled the new qualified immunity applies because the conduct regulated by the statute is adjudicatory and occurs in the future, not the past.

**b. Venckus Has No “Vested Rights” in a Specific Qualified Immunity Formulation**

Venckus’s claim he has a vested property right that prohibits the constitutional application of Iowa Code Section 670.4A is flawed. He has no vested right in the continuance of a specific formulation of the qualified immunity defense to municipal tort claims. *Cf. Baldwin v. City of Waterloo*, 372 N.W.2d 486, 492 (Iowa 1985) (“Plaintiff had no vested right in a particular result of this litigation or in the continuation of the principle of unlimited joint and several liability.”). In *Baldwin*, the Supreme Court applied the statutory version of joint and several liability from the newly enacted Iowa Code Chapter 668 to the plaintiff’s pending lawsuit and held there was no violation of the plaintiff’s substantive due process rights. *Id.*

Likewise, in this case, the statutory qualified immunity defense does not impact the substance of Venckus’s claim, which was—and still is—based upon his alleged violations of the Iowa Constitution and Iowa common law. A court deciding whether his claim is “clearly established” under Iowa law so as to avoid the application of statutory qualified immunity is the “legal machinery” at work. Contrast this to the case cited by Venckus, *Thorp v. Casey’s General Stores, Inc.*, 446 N.W.2d 457 (Iowa 1989), which involved the legislature’s substantive amendment to Iowa Code § 123.92 (dram shop liability) to eliminate the branch of statutory liability for the “selling or giving” of beer. *Thorp*, 446 N.W.2d at 460. That amendment destroyed the plaintiff’s claim entirely. *Id.*

**2. Venckus Fails to Carry His Burden of Proof to Establish Iowa Code Section 670.4A Is Unconstitutional**

Venckus argues that “[t]he Iowa legislature is acting outside the scope of its authority in attempting to define the meaning of the Iowa Constitution.” (Venckus Proof Brief, p. 75). The legislature has the right to regulate constitutional damage claims, and nothing about the qualified immunity provision in Section 670.4A “overrules” *Baldwin I*. In fact, the statute itself explicitly states that “This section shall apply in addition to any other statutory or common law immunity.” Iowa Code § 670.4A(5). Further, there is nothing in Iowa Code § 670.4A that even refers to the Iowa Constitution, much less attempts to define its meaning.

The Iowa Supreme Court recently reviewed the separation-of-powers doctrine in *State v. Thompson*, 954 N.W.2d 402 (Iowa 2021). In *Thompson* a criminal defendant claimed the legislature’s statutory enactment prohibiting pro se supplemental briefs was unconstitutional as a violation of the separation of powers because it invaded the province of the courts to exercise the judicial power to provide for the fair and impartial administration of justice. *Id.* at 409. The Supreme Court found no violation of the separation of powers in *Thompson* because “the constitutional text reserves the legislative department authority to regulate the practice and procedure in all Iowa courts . . . .” *Id.* at 412 (citing Iowa Const. Art. V, § 4). It noted further that although the judicial department can make rules of practice and procedure, “the legislative department continues to legislate on the topics of who can participate in judicial proceedings, what information or evidence can be present in judicial proceedings, and what information or evidence can be considered in judicial proceedings.” *Id.* at 413.

In *Wagner* the Supreme Court likewise specifically acknowledged the legislature’s right to regulate constitutional tort claims. *Wagner*, 952 N.W.2d at 847. Iowa Code § 670.4A regulates damage claims against municipalities and municipal officials in several ways, one of which is qualified immunity. Iowa Code §§ 670.4A(3), (4). It is the province of the legislature, not the courts, to

determine whether and under what circumstances municipalities are subject to tort liability. *Boyer*, 256 Iowa at 347, 127 N.W.2d at 612.

Venckus concedes that application of Iowa Code § 670.4A’s qualified immunity standard “may” prevent him from obtaining a remedy—but he does not contend that the qualified immunity statute *eliminates* his potential remedies. (Venckus Proof Brief, p. 77). Just because Venckus cannot meet the regulatory strictures the Iowa legislature has set forth does not mean an adequate remedy is unavailable to him. It just means his claims are not strong enough to survive qualified immunity. And his claims are not strong enough. Iowa law has never recognized his theories of liability—“continued” malicious prosecution, negligent investigation, or reckless investigation, much less make them clearly established.

Venckus does not meet his heavy burden to prove Iowa Code § 670.4A(1) is unconstitutional.

**IX. THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY RULED RICH IS ENTITLED TO *BALDWIN* QUALIFIED IMMUNITY ON VENCKUS’S PURPORTED IOWA CONSTITUTIONAL TORT CLAIMS.**

**A. Preservation of Error and Scope and Standard of Review**

Rich and the City agree with Venckus error is preserved on this issue and regarding the proper scope and standard of review. The district court correctly ruled Rich and the City were entitled to *Baldwin* qualified immunity. (App. I, p. 654).

## **B. Merits**

Venckus provides no substantive argument that goes to the issue of whether Rich acted with due care. He rests on his prior arguments. But the *Baldwin* analysis requires more—that Rich both violated the Iowa Constitution, and that in committing a violation, he acted without due care. *Baldwin I*, 915 N.W.2d at 281. The district court catalogued the actions taken by Rich that established due care: obtaining forensic evidence against Venckus; investigating for a year after the crime; investigating the alibi; and findings by the district court establishing probable cause. (App. I, p. 654). Venckus fails to recognize this distinction and provides no argument against *Baldwin* immunity. He also provides no authority in support of his claim that the district court erred in granting Rich qualified immunity, and his argument is therefore waived. Iowa R. App. P. 6.903(2)(g)(3).

## **X. THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY RULED VENCKUS'S CLAIMS WERE UNTIMELY FILED AND ARE BARRED BY THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS.**

### **A. Preservation of Error and Scope and Standard of Review**

Rich and the City agree with Venckus error is preserved on this issue and regarding the proper scope and standard of review. The district court correctly ruled Venckus's claims are all time-barred by Iowa Code § 670.5. (App. I, p. 654).



## **B. Merits**

Rich charged Venckus on January 24, 2014. Trial occurred in September 2016. Venckus filed this lawsuit on March 15, 2018. And Venckus's position on when he suffered an injury for the purpose of applying Iowa Code § 670.5's two-year statute of limitations has shifted like sand throughout this lawsuit. The City contends the statute of limitations for Venckus's claims began to run when Venckus was charged on January 24, 2014. But even if Venckus's theory that the statute of limitations began later were accepted, Venckus never established a genuine issue of material fact regarding the date of his alleged injury.

Without ever identifying any discrete act or specific date, Venckus stated during discovery that generally his rights were violated "from March 15, 2016 through the last day of the trial that began on September 7, 2016." (App. II, pp. 212-213). He then claimed during summary judgment that his injury occurred "sometime between April 1, 2016 and when [Rich] testified at trial in September 2016 . . . ." (Plaintiff's Summary Judgment Brief, p. 80). Then, he argued that his injury occurred on the date he was acquitted, September 21, 2016, an argument he abandoned on appeal. (Plaintiff's Summary Judgment Brief, p. 82). Now he asks this Court, as he did the district court, to find that his injury date was "sometime" within a 5½ month period leading up to his criminal trial. (Venckus Proof Brief, p. 82). The district court rightfully rejected this invitation, finding that Venckus

“failed to identify any specific evidentiary fact showing the existence of a genuine issue of material fact on the question of whether his claims were brought in a timely manner.” (App. I, p. 654).

Venckus has never offered a piece of evidence that would support his contention that Rich believed probable cause dissipated during the fateful 5½ months, and there were criminal court rulings from this very timeframe finding probable cause existed and the case against him should proceed. Many of the “wrongs” that Venckus complains of regarding the continued prosecution also fall outside of the statute of limitations, including the allegedly inadequate investigation by Rich and the Google drive’s “overwhelming” evidence establishing his innocence.

Venckus alleges that if his arrest and charging date triggered the statute of limitations on his claims, there could be no *Brady* claims or “unjustifiable continuation of prosecutions” claims. *See Brady v. Maryland*, 373 U.S. 83, 83 S.Ct. 1194, 10 L.Ed.2d 215 (1963). His argument is confusing. A *Brady* claim is not actionable until an accused is tried and convicted because the injury is the conviction, and the “wrongful” act (concealing evidence) is unknown to the accused. *See Livers v. Schenck*, 700 F.3d 340, 359 (8th Cir. 2012) (“Assuming appellants failed to disclose exculpatory evidence, there was no *Brady* violation because [appellees] were not convicted.”). And Venckus fails to cite any

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